
t it le deed dat ing 
back to 1838 with 
pioneer businessman 
Ta n Tock Seng’s 

signature. Records of schools 
like Tao Nan, Ai Tong and Nan 
Chiau. Documents regarding 
the relocation of temples and 
cemeteries. These are just some of 
the more than 4,300 documents 
that the Singapore Hokkien Huay 
Kuan donated to the National 
Library in 2021.

Other documents include 
land records, rental records, 
receipts dating back to the 
Second World War, old business 
correspondences, photographs 
and minutes of meetings. All 
these materials are now part of 
the National Library’s Singapore 
Hokkien Huay Kuan Collection.

This collection is important 
because these papers shed light 
on many important institutions 
in Singapore, especially those 
re lat i ng to  t he  Si ngapore 
Hokkien Huay Kuan. Among the 
documents donated, for example, 
are nine early title deeds for 
the land that the Thian Hock 
Keng temple sits on.1 Located 
on Telok Ayer Street, Thian 
Hock Keng is one of Singapore’s 
oldest Hokkien temples and also 
a national monument.

From these documents, 
which were kept in a safe for 
many decades, we learn that  
Tan Tock Seng had acquired 
multiple plots of land in Telok 
Ayer between 1838 and 1839 
at prices ranging from 160 to 
200 Spanish silver dollars per 
plot for the construction of the 
temple.2 He purchased these land 
parcels from the resellers who 
had originally bought them from 
the British East India Company.3
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This 1828 document is believed to be the oldest land title deed 
found in Singapore. A Sim Loo-ah had purchased the plot of land 
on Telok Ayer Street from the United Company of Merchants of 
England Trading to the East Indies (the precursor of the East India 
Company) for a quit rent of 1.55 Spanish silver dollars per year. 
Two of the signatures in the deed belong to Kenneth Murchison, 
second Resident Councillor of Singapore (1827–33), who was stated 
as the witness, and Samuel George Bonham, Murchison’s deputy 
and who later succeeded him as the third Resident Councillor of 
Singapore (1833–36). Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan Collection, 
National Library, Singapore.
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ABOUT A UNIQUE INSTITUTION
Materials donated by the Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan offer unique 
perspectives into the history of the Hokkien community here and the 
association’s contributions to the nation’s social and cultural landscape. 
By Ang Seow Leng and Seow Peck Ngiam

OF INFORMATION
A TREASURE TROVE

A painting of Thian Hock Keng titled “Chinese Temple, Singapore” 
by artist Alfred T. Agate and engraver J.A. Ralph, 1842. Collection 
of the National Museum of Singapore, National Heritage Board.



The purchase of land in Singapore during the 
early 19th century was usually in the form of a 999- 
or 99-year lease issued by the Straits Settlements 
government, where the lease or grant was subject 
to a yearly quit rent.4

A document numbered 593 and dated 1828 
shows that a Sim Loo-ah had purchased a plot of 
land on Telok Ayer Street and paid a quit rent of 
1.55 Spanish silver dollars per year. This 1828 land 
title deed is believed to be the oldest land title deed 
found in Singapore.

A quick survey of land title deeds reveals how 
quickly the price of land in Telok Ayer appreciated 
in those early years. Just four years later, in 1832, Sim 
sold the land to a Tan Leng for 100 Spanish silver 
dollars. Tan Leng in turn sold the same plot to Tan 
Tock Seng in 1838 for 170 Spanish dollars, and the 
title deed bears the latter’s signature.

The construction cost of the temple was about 
37,000 Spanish dollars. This was borne by wealthy 

Hokkiens in Singapore and ship-owners from 
Zhangzhou and Quanzhou in China. Topping the 
list of donors was Tan Tock Seng, who gave $3,074. 
He was followed by another local businessman, See 
Hoot Kee, who contributed $2,400.5

Thian Hock Keng – More Than Just a 
Religious Space
Construction of the present Thian Hock Keng temple 
at 158 Telok Ayer Street began in 1839 and was 
completed by 1842.6 However, the temple actually 
traces its roots to a simple prayer house that had been 

set up in 1821 along the shoreline of Telok Ayer Basin. 
It was dedicated to the Goddess of the Sea, Mazu 
(妈祖), who is the protector of sailors, fishermen 
and travellers. Chinese immigrants would go to the 
prayer house to give thanks for their safe passage 
to Singapore.  

On 28 June 1973, Thian Hock Keng was 
gazetted as a national monument. The architecture 
of the temple is consistent with Chinese temple 
architectural traditions from Minnan (a southern 
Fujian province in China), such as complex timber 
posts and beam structures with decorative features 
like the “swallow tail” roof ridge and intricate 
carvings.7 The temple was repaired and restored 
to its current state in the mid-1990s and won an 
honourable mention in the 2001 UNESCO Asia-
Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage Conservation.8

Formation of the Hokkien Huay Kuan 

In addition to shedding light on the early history of 
the temple, the archival materials are also a window 
into the Hokkien community in Singapore. This 
is because besides being a place of worship, Thian 
Hock Keng was also a social centre where Hokkien 
leaders would gather to make important decisions 
regarding the Hokkien community, business issues, 
fund-raising plans, management of burial lands and 
even registering marriages.9

Between 1840 and 1915, a small group of 
merchants and rich Hokkien businessmen such as 
Khoo Cheng Tiong and Tan Boo Liat helped hold 
the council elections of Thian Hock Keng Temple. In 
1915, the council prepared a constitution to register 
with the colonial government but was exempted 
from registration in 1916. The council was renamed 
Thian Hock Keng Hokkien Huay Kuan (huay kuan 
means “clan association”).10 This marked a new 
phase of the Huay Kuan as it gained prominence 
in the Hokkien community. Management of Thian 
Hock Keng Temple came under the purview of the 
Huay Kuan, changing the dynamics from when it 
first started as a social arm of the temple.

In 1937, the Hokkien Huay Kuan was registered 
as a non-profit organisation under the Companies 
Ordinance, with a focus on education.11 Its affiliated 
schools include Tao Nan School, Ai Tong School, 
Chong Hock Girls’ School (today’s Chongfu School), 
Nan Chiau Primary School, Nan Chiau High School 
and Kong Hwa School.12 The Huay Kuan also led the 
way in establishing Nanyang University (present-day 
Nanyang Technological University), raising funds 
and donating 523 acres of land for the university’s 
campus in Jurong.13

Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan 
Collection
While Thian Hock Keng’s historical land title 
deeds are part of the 2021 donation by the Hokkien 

Huay Kuan to the National Library, the majority 
of the collection are postwar materials. They can 
broadly be classified into the following categories: 
clan operations and activities, school operations, 
management of temples and burial grounds, and 
management of properties.

This 1838 title deed for a plot of land on Telok Ayer Street bears 
the signature of Tan Tock Seng, who purchased the land from a 
Tan Leng for 170 Spanish silver dollars. Tan Leng had purchased 
the land from Sim Loo-ah in 1832 for 100 Spanish silver dollars, 
who had originally purchased the land from the United Company 
of Merchants of England Trading to the East Indies (the precursor 
of the East India Company) for a mere quit rent of 1.55 Spanish 
silver dollars per year. Today, this land forms part of the premises 
of Thian Hock Keng. Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan Collection, 
National Library, Singapore.

In addition to shedding light on the 
early history of the temple, the archival 
materials are also a window into the 
Hokkien community in Singapore.

Devotees worshipping at Thian Hock Keng, 1965. Photo by Wong 
Ken Foo (K.F. Wong). Courtesy of National Archives of Singapore.
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Eight sets of minutes14 provide a detailed look 
into the Management Council of the Singapore 
Hokkien Huay Kuan’s decisions from 1950 to 
1984, while five other sets of minutes from various 
departments15 of the Huay Kuan offer insights into 
their specific activities between 1962 and 1987. 
There is also a dedicated set of minutes that presents 
meticulously documented motions for discussion and 
important documents,16 as well as records pertaining 
to amendments of the Huay Kuan’s articles, notices 
and circulars.17

Also included are official correspondences 
from 1950 to 1977, which offer glimpses into the 
clan’s external interactions with entities such as the 
Housing and Development Board Branch, and Public 
Works Department Roads Branch.18  

Records relating to the schools managed by the 
Huay Kuan help to illuminate the history of Chinese 
education in Singapore. Documents such as balance 
sheets and donation records provide perspectives 
on the changing educational landscape such as 
school relocation in the late 1960s.  

Highlights include documents on an 
exchange of land between Nan Chiau Girls’ High 
School (comprising both primary and secondary 
levels) and Chung Cheng High School (Branch), 
which were both formerly located at Kim Yam 
Road, and the rebuilding of Nan Chiau’s new 
campus at the same site. To meet Nan Chiau’s 
growing student population and to facilitate 
its reconstruction efforts, the campus of 
its secondary school was temporarily 
relocated to Guillemard Road. Its primary 
school campus continued to function at 
Kim Yam Road from 1965 to 1968. Nan 
Chiau at Kim Yam Road was rebuilt and 
expanded in 1969, and brought both 
the primary and secondary campuses 
under one roof.19 Chung Cheng High 
School (Branch), on the other hand, 
shifted to Guillemard Road in 1969.20

The materials in the collection also reveal 
historical insights into the Huay Kuan’s role as the 
guardian of sacred spaces. For instance, documents 
from 1949 to 1982 detail the relocation of Kim Lan 
Beo. Established in 1830, Kim Lan Beo is one of 
Singapore’s oldest temples and counts prominent 
Hokkien individuals like Lim Boon Keng and See 
Tiong Wah in its past management committees.21 It 
was originally at Yan Kit Road in Tanjong Pagar and 
came under the management of the Singapore Hokkien 
Huay Kuan in 1960. The documents track the journey 
of the temple’s eventual relocation to Kim Tian Road 
in Tiong Bahru, culminating in its reopening in 1984.

Beyond temple stewardship, the collection 
showcases the Huay Kuan’s management of burial 
grounds like Kopi Sua (羔丕山) near Mount Pleasant 
Road22 (1961–73) and Leng Kee Sua (1951–80, 麟记山) 
in Tiong Bahru. Documents reveal the complexities of 
maintaining these spaces, such as surveying squatter 
settlements and addressing illegal construction (at 
Leng Kee Sua) and dealing with land acquisition by 
the government due to urban planning.

The collection also holds materials that document 
property rentals under Thian Hock Keng dating 
back to 1942. For example, a detailed rental register 
sheds light on the shops – such as Eng Aun Tong 
(永安堂) owned by businessman Eu Tong Sen – that 
leased the temple’s properties from 1942 to 1948.23

Beyond these property registers and account 
records are a wealth of papers pertaining to land and 
rental agreements for various properties and villages, 
including Mandai Tekong Village (万利泽光), off 
Mandai Road.24

The photographs in the collection also provide 
information about the Huay Kuan and its activities. 
These showcase past management committees and 
capture unique moments such as traditional mass 
weddings, school life, burial grounds – bringing the 
clan’s past vividly to life.

This brief survey only touches the surface of what 
is available in the Singapore Hokkien Huay Kuan 
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